# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 74,201

JAMES ROGER HUFF,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE FIFTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT COURT, IN AND FOR SUMTER COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

## INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

LARRY HELM SPALDING
Capital Collateral Representative

JULIE D. NAYLOR Assistant CCR

OFFICE OF THE CAPITAL COLLATERAL REPRESENTATIVE

1533 South Monroe Street

Tallahassee, Florida 32301

(904) 487-4376

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

## PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

# STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### A. INTRODUCTION

e

A Motion to Vacate Judgments of Conviction and Sentences was filed in this case pursuant to Rule 3.850, Fla. R. Crim. P. Ten issues were pled and briefed before the circuit court, and an evidentiary hearing was requested on many of those claims.

However, the circuit court summarily denied Mr. Huff's Motion to Vacate Judgments and Sentences, without even the benefit of a State's response. The files and records here do not conclusively show that Mr. Huff is entitled to no relief, and so an evidentiary hearing was and is more than proper.

In its Orders denying Mr. Huff's Motion to Vacate Judgments and Sentences, the circuit court committed a number of errors and erred in its ultimate disposition of Mr. Huff's claims. The record amply demonstrates Mr. Huff's entitlement to relief, or at the very least the need for a full and fair hearing in order to allow Mr. Huff to more fully establish his claims.

#### B. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On April 21, 1980, Mr. Huff appeared on the doorstep of a resident of Sumter County, Florida, and reported that he had been driving with his parents when he was flagged down by unknown persons who forced him to drive, at gunpoint, to a remote area. Once there, Mr. Huff was rendered unconscious, and awoke to find his parents dead.

The police were called. A short time later, Mr. Huff was arrested for the murder of his parents. There were no other witnesses to the shooting; the unknown persons were never seriously sought by the police, and were never located.

#### C. PROCEDURAL HISTORY

Mr. Huff was charged by Indictment with two counts of first degree murder, on June 2, 1980. He was tried before a jury and found guilty on both counts on November 1, 1980. A penalty phase was conducted on November 3, 1980, the jury recommending death on both counts. On November 6, after the judicial sentencing proceeding, the trial court imposed two sentences of death.

Both the judgments of guilt and the sentences of death were reversed by this Court on direct appeal, on the basis of prosecutorial misconduct. This misconduct arose from the State's closing argument during the guilt phase when the prosecutor implied that Mr. Huff had forged his father's name to a guarantee agreement; in fact, there was no evidence concerning the forgery of documents. Huff v. State, 437 So. 2d 1087 (Fla. 1983).

A new trial was conducted from May 1 to June 1, 1984. The jury returned a verdict of guilty on both counts on June 1, 1984. Mr. Huff was sentenced to death by the circuit court. These new sentences of death were upheld by this Court on direct appeal. Huff v. State, 495 So. 2d 145 (Fla. 1986).

On December 2, 1988, Mr. Huff filed a verified Motion to Vacate Judgments and Sentences with Special Request for Leave to

Amend, pursuant to Rule 3.850, Fla. R. Crim. P. (M. 9-115). The Circuit Court entered an Order Striking Motion to Vacate Judgment and Sentence with Special Request for Leave to Amend, without prejudice, on February 29, 1989 (M. 118). Filed with the Motion to Vacate on December 2, 1988 was a Motion to Admit Counsel Pro Hac Vice (M. 1-3). The Order entered on February 29, 1989, did not deny the Motion to Admit Counsel Pro Hac Vice, but struck the Motion to Vacate on the basis that one of Mr. Huff's attorneys, Julie D. Naylor, was not admitted to practice law in the State of Florida. 1

On March 14, 1989, Mr. Huff re-filed his Motion to Vacate

Judgments and Sentences, signed only by Mr. Spalding (M. 119
199), and also a Motion for Rehearing (M. 208-219). This motion

for rehearing set forth the reasons why the circuit court's Order

striking the Rule 3.850 motion was in error.

On March 16, 1989, the circuit court entered its summary Order, denying the previous Motion for Rehearing (M. 220). On that same day, the circuit court summarily entered an Order Denying Motion filed Pursuant to Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure 3.850 (M. 221-28). Attached to that Order was the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>The other attorney of record in Mr. Huff's case is Mr. Larry Helm Spalding, the Florida Capital Collateral Representative, and a member in good standing of the Florida Bar. Since the original filing of the motion to vacate, undersigned counsel (Julie Naylor) has been admitted to the Florida Bar and is a member in good standing.

Mandate of the Supreme Court of Florida, the circuit court

Judgment of guilty entered on June 1, 1984, and the Sentence of
the Circuit Court entered on June 2, 1984.

A Motion for Rehearing was filed on March 31, 1989 (M. 250-57). This Motion for Rehearing was also summarily denied on April 4, 1989 (M. 258). A Notice of Appeal was thereafter duly filed (M. 261), and the case is now before this Court for review.

It should be noted that the only response that the State has filed to any of Mr. Huff's pleadings is a Response to Defendant's Motion for Costs (M. 229-30). No evidentiary or other in-court proceedings were allowed by the lower court.

### **ARGUMENT**

#### ARGUMENT I

THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN STRIKING MR. HUFF'S MOTION TO VACATE JUDGMENTS AND SENTENCES AS UNTIMELY FILED.

#### I. INTRODUCTION

а

а

а

а

a

а

Mr. Huff filed his verified Motion to Vacate Judgments and Sentences with Special Request for Leave to Amend pursuant to Rule 3.850, Fla. R. Crim, P., on December 2, 1988. Also filed was a Motion to Admit Counsel Pro Hac Vice. On February 29, 1989, the circuit court (Edwards, J.) entered his order striking Mr. Huff's Motion to Vacate, without prejudice, ruling:

- 1. Said Motion was signed by Julie D. Naylor, attempting to represent the defendant, James Roger Huff.
- 2. Julie D. Naylor is not an attorney authorized to practice law in the State of

Florida as evidenced by the MOTION TO ADMIT COUNSEL PRO HAC VICE filed by Larry Helm Spalding and the AFFIRMATION IN SUPPORT OF PRO HAC VICE APPLICATION signed by Julie D. Naylor.

(M. 118).

Thereafter, Mr. Huff re-filed his Motion to Vacate Judgment and Sentence With Special Request for Leave to Amend, signed by Larry Helm Spalding, the Director of the Office of the Capital Collateral Representative, and a longstanding member of the Florida Bar, whose name had also appeared on the originally filed Motion to Vacate. On March 16, 1989, Judge Edwards entered an order denying this motion. In that Order, Judge Edwards stated:

- 3. That an attempted MOTION TO VACATE JUDGMENT AND SENTENCE WITH SPECIAL REQUEST FOR LEAVE TO AMEND was filed in this cause dated 2 December, 1988 said date being more than two years after the Judgment and Sentence became final.
- 4. That this Court, by Order dated 27th day of February, 1989 struck said motion as being a nullity.

(R. 221). The Order goes on to deny the refiled Rule 3.850 Motion to Vacate because "the prisoner is entitled to no relief under this Rule." (Id.). It is thus not clear whether the Motion to Vacate was denied for lack of timeliness, or for lack of merit. Additionally, there has never been a State's response to any of Mr. Huff's motions, 2 therefore the State's position on

 $<sup>^{2}</sup>$ The sole exception is the State's objection to Mr. Huff's motion for costs (R. 229-30).

this issue is unknown.

To the extent that the circuit court denied Mr. Huff's Motion to Vacate on untimeliness grounds, the court was in error. This case should therefore be remanded for a proper initial ruling on the motion by the lower court.

II. THE COURT ERRED IN STRIKING THE MOTION ON THE BASIS THAT IT WAS SIGNED BY JULIE D. NAYLOR

Florida Statute 454.021, provides as follows:

- (1) Admissions of attorneys and counselors to practice law in the state is hereby declared to be a judicial function.
- (2) The Supreme Court of Florida, being the highest court of said state, is the proper court to govern and regulate admissions of attorneys and counselors to practice law in said state.

Rule 9.440, Rules of Appellate Procedure, provides in part as follows:

(a) Foreign Attorneys. Attorneys who are members in good standing of the bar of another jurisdiction may be permitted to appear in a proceeding if a motion to appear has been granted.

Also, Rule 1-3.2(a), Rules Regulating the Florida Bar, provides that a "practicing attorney of another state, in good standing, who has professional business in a court of record of this state may, upon motion, be permitted to practice for the purpose of such business upon such conditions as the court deems appropriate under the circumstances of the case," The lower court never ruled that undersigned counsel was not qualified to or otherwise should not be allowed to appear on a <u>pro hac vice</u> basis.

Moreover, Mr. Spalding, a member in good standing of the Florida Bar, was also counsel of record.

a

a

a

a

а

a

a

a

a

The order striking the motion to vacate did not specifically deny the motion to admit counsel <u>pro hac vice</u>. As this Court is aware, <u>pro hac vice</u> motions have been routinely granted by circuit courts as well as by this Court in death penalty cases in Florida. Looking only at the Fifth Judicial Circuit, <u>pro hac vice</u> motions were granted on behalf of CCR counsel in the cases of <u>State v. Hall</u>, <u>State v. Henderson</u>, <u>State v. Routly</u>, and <u>State v. Lightbourne</u>.

In addition, volunteer counsel from outside the state are routinely admitted to practice in Florida in death penalty cases even when not employed by CCR. See Lishtbourne v. State, 471 So. 2d 27 (Fla. 1985) (Philadelphia); Smith v. State, 457 So. 2d 1380 (Fla. 1984) (New York and District of Columbia); Bundv v. State, 14 F.L.W. 42 (Fla. 1989) (District of Columbia); Cave v. State, 13 F.L.W. 455 (Fla. 1988) (New York); Downs v. Dugger, 514 So. 2d 1069 (Fla. 1987) (New York): O'Callaghan v. State, 461 So. 2d 1354 (Fla. 1984) (New York); Demps v. State, 416 So. 2d 808 (Fla. 1982) (Alabama)); Daugherty v. State, 533 So. 2d 287 (Fla. 1988) (District of Columbia). Indeed, at least half of the capital cases litigated in Florida in post-conviction proceedings since the issuance of State v. Dixon, 283 So. 2d 1 (Fla. 1975), have been litigated by out-of-state counsel. In-state counsel had historically shied from such cases.

At the time of the filing of Mr. Huff's Motion to Vacate, Julie D. Naylor had been admitted in various Florida circuits for the purpose of participating in particular cases.' These cases include State v. Rose, Sixth Judicial Circuit, State v. Deaton, Seventeenth Judicial Circuit, State v. Marek, Seventeenth Judicial Circuit, State v. Parker, Eleventh Judicial Circuit, and State v. Johnson, Fourth Judicial Circuit. She had also been admitted pro hac vice by this Court, the Florida Supreme Court, on a number of occasions. <u>See</u>, <u>e.g.</u>, <u>Parker v. Duqqer</u>, **13** FLW 695 (Fla. 1989); Spalding v. Dugger, 526 So. 2d 71 (Fla. 1988). This is a unique case, involving the denial of a motion to vacate solely because of perceived problems with a pro hac vice motion. But Mr. Huff had Florida counsel -- Mr. Spalding. In the only case known to counsel in which a pro hac vice motion was denied, the circuit court nevertheless determined the merits of the motion, and this Court then also determined the merits while allowing that same attorney to appear pro hac vice. See Glock v. State, 14 F.L.W. 29 (Fla. 1989).

This Court is well aware of the reasons why <u>pro hac vice</u> representation is necessary in death penalty cases in this state, and, in the interests of brevity, they will not be repeated here.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>On April 18, 1989, Ms. Naylor was admitted to the Florida Bar.

Attached to the Motion for Rehearing in the circuit court (M. 231-236) is a letter prepared by Mr. Larry Helm Spalding, as Capital Collateral Representative, for the Florida Bar in response to an FDLE investigation of CCR. This letter details the impossibility of hiring Florida attorneys (M. 238-249). circuit court in this case had the authority to grant Ms. Naylor's pro hac vice motion, and never expressed any reason whatsoever why it was disinclined to do so. Since Ms. Naylor has since become a member of the Florida Bar, the pro hac vice issue itself became moot; however, to the extent that the order striking Mr. Huff's motion to vacate was based on the pro hac vice issue, Appellant contends it was error to refuse to grant the motion, and, further, error to strike the Motion to Vacate, which was also filed in the name of Mr. Spalding, a member of the Florida Bar, and also verified by Mr. Huff, who is certainly entitled to file a Rule 3.850 motion pro se.

III. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN STRIKING THE MOTION TO VACATE AS NULL AND VOID

The motion to vacate was also filed by Larry Helm Spalding, Florida Capital Collateral Representative, as attorney for Mr. Huff. Mr. Spalding is a member of the Florida Bar, in good standing. This alone is sufficient for the filing of a motion to vacate. Also, Mr. Huff signed a verification, verifying that he has personal knowledge of the facts and matters contained in the motion to vacate, and that these facts and matters are true and correct. Even if Ms. Naylor were not allowed to represent Mr.

Huff Mr. Huff is certainly entitled, under the Florida and the United States Constitutions, to file a motion to vacate in this matter, even if such motion is treated as a <u>pro se</u> request for relief.

In any event, the court was incorrect in striking the motion to vacate as null and void, when the Office of the Capital Collateral Representative, through Larry Helm Spalding, was clearly set out on the pleading as counsel of record, and when Mr. Huff is guaranteed the due process right to proceed with a motion to vacate. See Holland v. State, 503 So. 2d 1250 (Fla. 1987).

IV. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN DENYING THE MOTION TO VACATE AS UNTIMELY

As noted above, in its Order Denying Motion to Vacate filed pursuant to Rule 3.850, the circuit court stated that the Motion to Vacate dated December 2, 1988, was untimely "said date being more than two years after the Judgment and Sentence became final." (M. 221).

The judgments and sentences in this case were entered on June 1 and 2, 1984 (R. 3772-76). The Findings of Fact in support of the death sentences were entered on June 21, 1984 (R. 3788-3804). This Court issued its Mandate on direct appeal, <u>Huff v. State</u>, 495 So. 2d 145 (Fla. 1986), on December 2, 1986.

Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850 provides that a motion to vacate judgment and sentence must be filed on or before

"two years after the judgment and sentence become(s) final
..." This Court has held that the judgment and sentence
becomes final either upon the issuance of the mandate after
direct appeal or after a petition for writ of certiorari is
finally determined. See Burr v. State, 518 So. 2d 903 (Fla.
1987).

The circuit court's order calculated the two-year deadline of Rule 3.850 as running from October 27, 1986, the date this Court denied Mr. Huff's Petition of Rehearing. However, the circuit court failed to recognize that the two-year deadline runs from the <u>issuance of the mandate</u>, not the date rehearing is denied.

The correctness of Mr. Huff's position is more fully illustrated by the letter sent by the Office of the Clerk of the Supreme Court of Florida to Mr. Huff, a letter upon which Mr. Huff and his counsel relied. That letter, dated August 2, 1988, informed Mr. Huff:

The final disposition of your initial appeal (after retrial) was made on December 2, 1986, when this Court issued our Mandate since no petition for writ of certiorari was filed with the United States Supreme Court. Pursuant to Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure 3.850 you have two years from final disposition in which to file a motion for post conviction relief. Your motion should be filed with the circuit court on or before December 2, 1988.

Mr. Huff's Motion to Vacate was timely filed on December 2, 1988.

It was clearly timely. Whether treated as a pro se filing, or

the filing of a pleading by a death row individual represented by the Office of the Capital Collateral Representative, the Motion to Vacate should not have been struck as untimely when it was clearly timely. The circuit court's orders to the contrary should be reversed, and Mr. Huff's case remanded for a proper initial ruling on the merits and proper findings from the circuit court, findings which this Court does not have because of the circuit court's erroneous procedural rulings. By its actions in summarily denying Mr. Huff's Motion to Vacate as untimely, by denying Mr. Huff's attorney admission pro hac vice, and by summarily denying Mr. Huff all relief without a state's reponse or an evidentiary hearing, the circuit court judge has indicated his bias against Mr. Huff. Mr. Huff therefore requests that, in the event his case is remanded to circuit court, that the court direct that it be assigned to a judge other than Judge Edwards. See Stevens v. State, 14 F.L.W. 513, 515 (Fla. Oct. 5, 1989).

a

а

а

a

#### ARGUMENT II

THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN SUMMARILY DENYING MR. HUFF'S MOTION TO VACATE WITHOUT A STATE'S RESPONSE AND WITHOUT AN EVIDENTIARY HEARING, AND THE RULE 3.850 COURT'S SUMMARY DENIAL OF THE MOTION WAS ERRONEOUS AS A MATTER OF LAW AND FACT.

Under this Court's well-settled precedents, a Rule 3.850 movant is entitled to an evidentiary hearing unless "the motion and the files and the records in the case conclusively show that the prisoner is entitled to no relief." Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.850; Lemon v. State, 498 So. 2d 923 (Fla. 1986); State v. Crews, 477

So. 2d 984 (Fla. 1985); O'Callaghan v. State, 461 So. 2d 1354 (Fla. 1984); State v. Sireci, 502 So. 2d 1221 (Fla. 1987); Mason v. State, 489 So. 2d 734 (Fla. 1986); Squires v. State, 513 So. 2d 138 (Fla. 1987); Gorham v. State, 521 So. 2d 1067 (Fla. 1988). Mr. Huff's Motion alleged facts which, if proven, would entitle him to relief. The files and records did not "conclusively show that he is entitled to no relief," and the trial court's summary denial of the motion, without an evidentiary hearing, was therefore erroneous.

Mr. Huff's verified Rule 3.850 Motion alleged and supported extensive non-record facts in support of claims which have traditionally been raised by sworn allegations in Rule 3.850 post-conviction proceedings and tested through evidentiary hearings. Mr. Huff is entitled to an evidentiary hearing with respect to his claims, unless the files and records in the case conclusively show that he will necessarily lose on each claim. In that instance, the judge must attach "a copy of that portion of the files and records which conclusively shows that the prisoner is entitled to no relief. . . " Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.850. Otherwise, an evidentiary hearing is proper. Those portions of the record which were attached to the trial court's order here (the Mandate of the Supreme Court of Florida, and the Judgments and Sentences) in no way refuted or rebutted Mr. Huff's sworn and supported allegations, and an evidentiary hearing was and is therefore proper.

a

Mr. Huff's claims are of the type classically recognized as issues warranting full and fair Rule 3.850 evidentiary resolution. Obviously, the question of whether a capital inmate was denied effective assistance of counsel during either the capital guilt-innocence or penalty phase proceedings is a paramount example of a claim requiring an evidentiary hearing for its proper resolution. See O'Callaghan, supra; Squires, supra; Groover v. State, 489 So. 2d 15 (Fla. 1986). Mr. Huff's claim that he did not receive a professionally adequate pretrial mental health evaluation is also a traditionally-recognized Rule 3.850 evidentiary claim, see Mason: Sireci; cf. Groover v. State, supra. Numerous other evidentiary claims requiring a full and fair hearing for their proper resolution were also presented by Mr. Huff's Rule 3.850 motion.

In O'Callaghan, supra, this Court recognized that a hearing was required because facts necessary to the disposition of an ineffective assistance claim were not "of record." See also Vaught v. State, 442 So. 2d 217, 219 (Fla. 1983). In such circumstances, this Court has not hesitated to remand Rule 3.850 cases for required evidentiary hearings. See, e.g., Zeigler v. State, 452 So. 2d 537 (1984); Vaught, supra; Lemon, supra; Squires, supra; Gorham, supra; Smith v. State, 461 So. 2d 1354 (Fla. 1985); Morgan v. State, 461 So. 2d 1534 (Fla. 1985); Meeks v. State, 382 So. 2d 673 (Fla. 1980); McCrae v. State, 437 So. 2d 1388 (Fla. 1983); LeDuc v. State, 415 So. 2d 721 (Fla. 1982);

Demps v. State, 416 So. 2d 808 (Fla. 1982); Aranso v. State, 437 So. 2d 1099 (Fla. 1983). These cases control: Mr. Huff was (and is) entitled to an evidentiary hearing, and the trial court's summary denial of his Rule 3.850 Motion was therefore erroneous.

#### ARGUMENT III

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