IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

a Arti 2 1000 Desire Desire

JAMES ROGER HUFF,

Appellant,

CASE NO. 74,201

STATE OF FLORIDA,

v.

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIFTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR SUMTER COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

BARBARA C. DAVIS ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FL. BAR. **#410519** 210 N. Palmetto Avenue Suite 447 Daytona Beach, Florida 32114 (904) 238-4990

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

Point 11: The motion to vacate, files, and records conclusively show that Huff is not entitled to relief; therefore, the judge did not err in summarily denying the motion without a hearing. Points 111, V, VIII, and the first part of XI were raised on appeal and are procedurally barred. Points IV, IX, and

- 8 -

the second part of XI should have been raised on direct appeal and are procedurally barred. The ineffective assistance of counsel claims, Points VI and VII, are disguised attempts to litigate issues raised or which should have been raised on appeal. Point I, and II involve procedural issues dealing with the denial of the 3.850 motion. Point x is not cognizable in a 3.850 motion.

Point 111: The issue whether Huff knowingly waived his <u>Miranda</u> rights was raised and decided on direct appeal and is procedurally barred. Even if the issue were cognizable in a post-conviction motion, it has no merit. Huff has failed to demonstrate deficient performance of counsel or prejudice, and raising the ineffectiveness of counsel issue is a disguised attempt to relitigate the issue.

Point IV: The issue whether Huff was advised he had the right to appointed counsel is procedurally barred since it should have been raised on direct appeal. In any case, the supplemental record and record show he was advised of this right. Even if he had not been advised of this right, Huff is not entitled to the benefit of a change in law.

Point V: The issue whether Huff invoked his right to silence is procedurally barred since it was raised and disposed of on direct appeal. Even if the issue were cognizable on collateral review, it has no merit. Huff did not invoke his right to silence where he answered "yes" he understood his rights, not "yes" he wanted to remain silent.

- 9 -

Huff has failed to demonstrate deficient Point VI: and that, but performance of counsel for the deficient performance of counsel, the outcome of the entire proceeding would have been different. The prior decision of this court shows the crime scene expert's testimony was irrelevant. Whether to object and what evidednce to present are tactical decisions which should not be second guessed in hindsight. The record shows that Huff was present at all critical stages. Raising the issues as ineffective assistance is an attempt to relitigate issues already raised on appeal.

Point VII: Counsel was not ineffective for failing to move for a continuance when Huff waived the jury's advisory sentence, where Huff knowingly and voluntarily waived the advisory sentence after advice from counsel and inquiries from the court and state attorney. This is a disguised attempt to relitigate an issue already decided on appeal.

Point VIII: Whether Huff was denied the right to confront Sheriff Johnson with alleged sexual improprieties, was raised on direct appeal and is procedurally barred. Even if it were cognizable in a post conviction motion, the issue has no merit where the impeachment evidence was irrelevant and collateral.

Point IX: The issue of prosecutorial misconduct was raised in five points on direct appeal, and the issue now raised in the motion to vacate should have also been raised. The issue is procedurally barred and in any case, without merit. The prosecutor did not refer to Huff's right to remain silent when he asked an investigator whether Huff asked about his parents and when Huff was asked to take a gun residue test.

- 10 -

Point X: Whether the Supreme Court of Florida erred in striking a mitigating circumstance is not cognizable in a 3.850 motion addressed to the circuit court.

Point XI: The two issues addressed in the "catch-all" argument were either raised, or should have been raised, on direct appeal and are procedurally barred. The issues are not developed, and the motion is insufficient on its face.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

I, 11, 111. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY STRUCK THE MOTION TO VACATE BECAUSE IT WAS SIGNED BY A FOREIGN ATTORNEY

Huff argues that the trial court erred in striking his motion to vacate judgment on the basis it was signed by Julie Naylor because not only should she automatically have been allowed to represent Huff *pro hac vice*, but also because Huff could have filed the motion *pro se* and because Larry Helm Spalding was Huff's Florida counsel.

Only Julie Naylor signed the motion to vacate filed December 2, 1988 (M89). Huff argues that because Mr. Spalding signed the motion to vacate, the motion was valid. Mr. Spalding's name was listed on the motion, but he did not sign it What Mr. Spalding did sign was a motion to withdraw (M 89). which was filed contemporaneously with the motion to vacate (M However, the only attorney who signed the actual 100, 111). motion to vacate was Ms. Naylor. Mr. Spalding, in any event, has declared his role to be purely administrative to "get money and take the heat" and he does not practice law. See Florida, The Orlando Sentinel Sunday Magazine, p. 8, April 23, 1989. (App. A).

Since Huff was represented by CCR, who is appointed when state appellate proceedings are final, he was not entitled to file a *pro se* motion, and any such motion would be treated as a nullity and stricken. §27.702 Fla. Stat.; <u>Smith v. State</u>, 444 So.2d 542 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984); <u>Sheppard v. State</u> 391 So.2d 346 (Fla. 5th DCA 1980).

The statute and appellate rule cited by Huff do not require a different result. Rule 9.440, Fla.R.App.P. provides that an attorney of another jurisdiction may be permitted to appear in a proceeding if a motion to appear has been granted. Julie Naylor never asked the court for permission to file the motion to vacate and appear as counsel until the date the motion was filed. Section 454.021 Fla. Stat. (1987) provides that admission to practice law is a judicial function. These rules do not require judge to automatically recognize an attorney who files a а motion to appear pro hac vice. In fact, the right of an attorney of another state to practice is permissive and subject to the sound discretion of the court to which he applies. Buntrock v. Buntrock, 419 So.2d 402, 403 (Fla. 4th DCA 1982); Parker v. Parker, 97 So. 2d 136, 137 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1957). Even though Ms. Naylor now has been granted the right by the State of Florida to file and litigate a motion to vacate judgment and sentence, this was not done in accordance with the procedural rules and in a timely fashion. When pro hac vice admission is sought, filing should be undertaken early enough within the two year rule of Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850 so that refiling can be accomplished in the event that the court exercises its rightful discretion and refuses to grant such status.

IV. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DENIED THE SECOND MOTION TO VACATE BECAUSE IT WAS UNTIMELY.

Huff argues that the court erred in denying the motion to vacate filed December 2, 1988, on the basis of untimeliness. Actually, the trial court struck the motion on the basis that

- 13 -

Julie Naylor was not a Florida attorney (M 118). The motion which was denied for untimeliness was the one refiled on March 14, 1989 (M 221).

Huff argues that because the Florida Supreme Court mandate was issued December 2, 1986, the December 2, 1988 motion to vacate was timely pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.850 which requires a motion to vacate sentence to be filed within two years of the date the judgment and sentence become final. First, even if the December 2, 1988, date were the appropriate final date to file the motion, the motion which was filed on December 2, 1988, was null and void and a proper motion was not filed until March 14, 1989.

Second, as the trial court observed, rehearing was denied on October 27, 1986. See, Huff v. State, 495 So.2d 145 (Fla. 1986). A judgment and sentence "becomes final" for purposes of Rule 3.850 when direct review proceedings have concluded and jurisdiction to entertain a motion for post-conviction relief returns to the sentencing court. Johnson v. State, 508 So.2d 779 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1987). The trial court had jurisdiction when the motion for rehearing was denied because the appeal was no longer pending. See Bryant v. State, 442 So.2d 309 (Fla. 5th DCA 1983). In Burr v. State, 518 So.2d 903 (Fla. 1987), this court held that the trial court erred in finding a judgment and sentence was final when the Florida Supreme Court issued the mandate. Rather, the time should not begin to run until the writ of certiorari filed with the United States Supreme Court was finally determined. See also Tafero v. State, 524 So.2d 987 (Fla. 1987).

In the present case, Huff did not file for certiorari; however, if he had, the date the Court has set for the time for filing a petition for certiorari is the date rehearing is denied. Rule Supreme Court Rules. According to Rule 20.4, a judgment is 20.4, final when the judgment sought to be reviewed is rendered or when rehearing is denied, not from the date of the issuance of the mandate. Rule 11.3, Supreme Court Rules, similarly provides that the time for filing a notice of appeal runs from the date the judgment sought to be reviewed is rendered or the date rehearing is denied, and not from the date of the issuance of the mandate. The trial court was correct in recognizing the rehearing denial date as the significant starting date from which the two years runs. The final date for filing the motion was therefore October 27, 1988.

The state acknowledges that the defendant may have been advised his motion date ran on December 2, 1988, and that CCR may have relied on that representation. However, CCR is under a duty to investigate and take necessary action in a case. 827.702 Fla. Stat. (1987). Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.340(b) provides that the mandate <u>shall</u> be issued within 15 days of the rendition of the order denying the motion for rehearing. The mandate should have been issued on or about November **11**, 1989. CCR should have been aware this was the penultimate date to begin the two year period to file a 3.850 motion.

Under any of the above theories, the motion to vacate was untimely. In any case, Huff was not prejudiced by the summary dismissal since all issues raised in the motion are either

- 15 -

procedurally barred or without merit, and the trial court should summarily deny relief in this situation.

POINT II

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN SUMMARILY DENYING HUFF'S MOTION TO VACATE WITHOUT AN EVIDENTIARY HEARING OR STATE RESPONSE BECAUSE THE MOTION, FILES AND RECORDS SHOW CONCLUSIVELY THAT HUFF IS ENTITLED TO NO RELIEF.

Huff argues that the trial court erred by summarily denying his motion to vacate without an evidentiary hearing because his claims are "of the type classically recognized as issues warranting full and fair Rule 3.850 evidentiary resolution", i.e. ineffective assistance of counsel, inadequate pre-trial mental health evaluation, and "numerous other evidentiary claims" (M14). As discussed herein, the record shows that Huff's classic issues are without merit. Rule 3.850 provides that when the motion, files and records conclusively show that the prisoner is entitled to no relief, the motion shall be denied without a hearing. Since the records conclusively show that Huff is entitled to no relief, Rule 3.850 exempts the court from ordering the state attorney to file an answer. Failure of a trial judge to attach a copy of the record to his order in a capital case denying an evidentiary hearing is not reversible error. Lightbourne v. State, 471 So, 2d 27 (Fla. 1985).

Almost every issue Huff now raises either was, or should have been, raised on direct appeal. The others have no merit. Points 111, V, VIII, and the first part of XI were raised on appeal and are procedurally barred. Points IV, IX, and the

- 16 -

second part of XI should have been raised on direct appeal and are procedurally barred. The ineffective assistance of counsel claims, Points VI and VII, are disguised attempts to litigate issues raised or which should have been raised on appeal. Points I and II involve procedural issues dealing with the denial of the **3.850** motion. Point X is not cognizable in a **3.850** motion. The ineffective assistance of counsel claims are disguised attempts to litigate issues which were raised or should have been raised on direct appeal. In <u>McCrae v. State</u>, **437** So.2d **1388**, **1390** (Fla. **1983**), this court explained:

> The purpose of a Rule 3.850 motion is to provide a means of inquiry into the alleged constitutional infirmity of a judgment or sentence, not to review ordinary trial errors cognizable by means of a direct appeal. . . The motion procedure is neither a second appeal nor a substitute for appeal. Matters which were raised on appeal and decided adversely to the movant are not cognizable by motion under Rule 3.850. . Furthermore, any matters which could have been presented on appeal are similarly held to be foreclosed from consideration by motion under the Rule. Therefore, a Rule 3.850 motion based upon grounds which either were or could have been raised as issues on appeal may be summarily denied. (Citations omitted).

The trial court properly denied the motion without an evidentiary hearing. <u>See Stano v. State</u>, **520** So.2d **278** (Fla. 1988); <u>Agan v. State</u>, **503** So.2d **1254**, 1256 (Fla. 1987); <u>Johnson</u> <u>v. Wainwright</u>, **436** So.2d **207** (Fla. 1985).

POINT III

THE ISSUE WHETHER HUFF KNOWINGLY AND INTELLIGENTLY WAIVED HIS MIRANDA RIGHTS

IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED BECAUSE IT WAS RAISED ON DIRECT APPEAL; THE ISSUE WHETHER COUNSEL EFFECTIVELY LITIGATED THE ISSUE IS NOT PROPERLY RAISED, AND IS WITHOUT MERIT.

Hu f argues that because he was hysterical, h did not understand the <u>Miranda³</u> rights and did not knowingly waive his rights. This argument was raised on direct appeal in point IV and disposed of by this court in <u>Huff v. State</u>, **495** So.2d **145**, **148-149** (Fla. **1986**) as follows:

> Appellant next claims as error the trial court's failure to suppress an inculpatory statement made by the appellant. Once the police arrived on the murder scene, appellant was given his Miranda warnings and was placed in the back of a Wildwood police car by Shortly thereafter, Officer Overly. Shortly thereafter, Sheriff Johnson arrived on the scene, put his head in the police car and asked what had happened. Appellant responded: "I shot them in the face". Johnson Johnson testified that the appellant put his hands over his face and would not respond to Johnson's question of whom he had shot. When the appellant spoke again he stated, "They shot them in the face." In Huff I, the trial court determined that the Miranda warnings were adequate and determined that the statement was Due to the unavailability admissible. Overly of at trial, however, the statement was not used in Huff I. Appellant's claim sub judice is that the trial judge erroneously relied on the "law of the case" from Huff I to determine the admissibility of the Our review of the record statement. reveals that this is simply not so. A new suppression hearing was held and Overly was questioned extensively by counsel concerning the adequacy of the Miranda warnings. Overly testified that

<u>3</u> <u>Miranda v. Arizona</u>, 384 U.S. 436 (1966).

he read appellant the warnings from the standard form used by the Wildwood police which was subsequently introduced into evidence at trial. Overly had originally testified at the Huff I appellant suppression hearing that understood his rights. His testimony at instant suppression hearing was the essentially that, with the passage of four years since the first trial, he was appellant fully sure that not as understood the warnings. Although Overly's most recent testimony is somewhat ambiguous, the inferences drawn from his testimony were resolved by the trial court in favor of the state, and we will not substitute our judgment for that of the trial court. Ross v. State, 386 So.2d 1191, 1195 (Fla. 1980). In the ruling statement admissible following the suppression hearing, the trial judge held: "The state has shown by preponderance of the evidence that the Miranda warning was adequately given. I feel it is law of the case and res judicata and will not disturb the original ruling." The trial court's statement on law of the case simply was his way of stating that no new evidence had been presented in this suppression hearing that would require overturning the Huff I holding of this issue. This was not error.

Huff is procedurally barred from raising this issue on post-conviction motion where it was previously raised and disposed of on direct appeal. <u>Cave v. State</u>, 529 So.2d 293 (Fla. 1988); <u>Woods v. State</u>, 531 So.2d 79, 81 (Fla. 1988). <u>Smith v.</u> <u>Duqqer</u>, 15 F.L.W. S81 (Fla. Feb. 15, 1990); <u>Correll v. Dugqer</u>, 15 F.L.W. S147 (Fla. March 16, 1990).

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